IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SCO5-1848

MARSHALL GORE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELISSA MINSK DONOHO 700 S. ANDREWS AVE., STE. 200 FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33316 (954) 712-9433 FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 955700

STEVEN J. HAMMER 440 S. ANDREWS AVE. FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 (954) 766-8856 FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 602485

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida, entered the judgment of conviction and sentence of death at issue in this case. This case arises from the retrial of Marshall Gore as ordered by Florida Supreme Court in *Gore v. State*, 719 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1998).

Mr. Gore was found guilty of one count of first degree murder and armed robbery with a deadly weapon of Robyn Novick. *Gore v. State*, 784 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 2001). The jury voted in favor of death and the trial court sentenced Mr. Gore to die. *Id*.

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction and sentence.

Id. Mr. Gore did not petition the United States Supreme Court for certiorari.

Post-Conviction Proceedings

On January 17, 2002, defense counsel Steven Hammer was appointed to represent Mr. Gore after prior post conviction counsel R. Glenn Arnold withdrew. Mr. Hammer accepted the appointment on the express understanding with the court that pre-existing commitments, including a first degree murder trial, would prevent him from immediately preparing Mr. Gore's post conviction motion. (PC-R 45-48).

On June 4, 2002, Mr. Gore filed an incomplete Rule 3.850 motion for post-

conviction relief. (PC-R 38). The trial court granted a state motion to strike based on an October 2001 revision of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 which no longer permits incomplete or shell motions for the purpose of tolling Federal time. (PC-R160-167). *See* Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)¹ In March, 2003, this Court granted Mr. Gore an extension of time pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(5) in which to file a fully plead post-conviction motion. (PC-R74).

On May 9, 2003, Mr. Gores counsel filed a "Motion to Determine Mr. Gores Competency to Proceed in Capital Collateral Proceedings." (PC-R 150-52). In support of this motion, counsel reported that Gore had been unable to give credible and reasonable answers to questions which would assist counsel in developing facts necessary for his defense. Counsel explained that Gore was paranoid, uncooperative, acted under apparent delusions, and believed that a grand conspiracy, which included his counsel, was preventing his exoneration. (PC-R 150-151, PC-T 256). As detailed below, the record demonstrates that this pattern of disturbed thinking has persisted throughout these proceedings and continues to cast serious doubt about both Mr. Gore's competency and his capacity to knowingly and voluntarily waive his rights -- something he has done repeatedly both at trial and in post conviction.²

¹Mr. Gore continues to contend, as he did before the trial court, that the new rule does not apply to him as his Mandate issued in May of 2001, before the change in the law.

²At trial Mr. Gore continually vacillated over dismissing counsel and proceeding pro se. He fired and rehired counsel several times before ultimately dismissing counsel after the

On June 13, 2003, the trial court appointed three experts to evaluate Mr. Gore. (PC-R218-220). Two of the experts found Gore competent while the third expert, who spent over five hours with Mr. Gore, found him incompetent.³ (PC-T 251). On March 26 and April 8, 2004, the trial court held hearings regarding competency during which Mr. Gore himself insisted that, although he did experience "the associations or loosening or whatever they call that thing" he was "absolutely lucid." (PC-T 268).

Mr. Gore, however, explained that he had a "big trust problem" with his lawyer because he believed (without any factual basis whatsoever) that a former witness or alleged victim had worked in the lawyer's office. (PC-T 269-70). The record reveals that Mr. Gore believed that his post conviction registry counsel was part of a conspiracy to kill or exterminate him and had a "conflict of interest" because Gore had sued Capital Collateral Regional Counsel (CCRC), his former post conviction counsel. (PC-T 270, 459, 674, 730-731). He also believed that the state had purposefully rendered him incompetent at an earlier trial by administering drugs to him and that prior post conviction counsel had sought mental examinations in order to "gain unfair advantage" over him.

presentation of evidence and conducting the closing argument himself. He also represented himself during the penalty phase expressly on grounds that counsel had failed to prepare and was incompetent. *See Gore v. State*, 784 So. 2d 418, 434 (Fla. 2001). The trial court here held that Mr. Gore waived his right to an evidentiary hearing on his claims in this proceeding. *See* PC-R 1125 (September 1, 2005 Order Denying Claim IV).

³Mr. Gore has been evaluated by mental health experts numerous times over the years with mixed results. At trial in this case, two experts found him competent while two other experts reached the opposite conclusion. (*See* PC-R 517-27).

(PC-T 480; PC-R 731). Mr. Gore's delusional thinking and deep paranoia was similarly expressed when he later asserted "conflict" with registry attorney Donoho who he claimed, again without any factual basis whatsoever, lived "in the same subdivision" of his former CCRC lawyer and "two blocks from the home of Robyn Novick, the victim in this case." (PC-T 640). Even though the trial court itself admitted later in the proceedings that Mr. Gore "always leave[s] me confused," (PC-T 474) it found Mr. Gore to be competent to proceed. (PC-T, volume 9, pg. 265).

On June 1, 2004, Mr. Gore filed his "Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend" (hereinafter "Amended 3.851 Motion"). On July 26, 2004, a hearing was held before the trial court during which the State filed its response to the Defendant=s Amended 3.851 Motion. At the insistence of Mr. Gore, counsel filed a Supplement to Claim X of his Amended Motion prepared by the defendant himself. (PC-T 308). Over the State=s objection, the trial court granted the Defendant leave to supplement. The State filed its response to the Defendant=s Supplement to Claim X on August 24, 2004.

On September 17, 2004, the trial court held a Case Management Conference pursuant to Rule 3.851(f)(5) and determined that the Defendant was entitled to an evidentiary hearing regarding Claim IV of his Amended 3.851 Motion in so far as it alleged that counsel provided ineffective assistance at the Spencer hearing.⁴ (PC-T, vol.

⁴Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (1993).

13, pg. 357; *See* PC-R 908). The trial court ordered the parties to file a list of witnesses by November 16, 2004.⁵

At some point during the preparation of the Amended 3.851 Motion defendant's counsel began to suspect that they had not received a complete set of available public records from prior counsel. Communication with Gore's former post conviction attorney, Arnold, revealed that he had mistakenly sent over 80 boxes of post conviction records to attorney, Frank Tassone, who represented Mr. Gore in another post conviction case from Northern Florida. Tassone, based on a misplaced notion of ethical obligation, refused to turn these records over to counsel even though, by law and normal practice, they would have been delivered to undersigned counsel as a matter of due course. On October 25, 2004, post conviction counsel filed a Motion to Compel the production of files in the possession of attorney Tassone.(PC-R 902-905).

On October 27, 2004, a hearing was held on the motion to compel. During the course of the hearing, defendant Gore objected to attorney Tassone providing any of the files to post conviction counsel in this case. Consistent with his mental illness, Mr. Gore asserted that he did not want his counsel to have access to these files because they contained material generated by Capital Collateral Regional Counsel, Gore's post

⁵On November 16, 2004, a hearing was held at which time the trial court entered its written order denying all claims presented in Defendant=s Amended 3.851 Motion with the exception of allegations in Claim IV that counsel provided ineffective assistance at the *Spencer* hearing.

conviction attorneys in another proceeding. Under Mr. Gore's obviously twisted logic, he believed that he had filed civil suits against Capital Collateral Counsel which somehow created a conflict of interest with registry counsel in the present case. (PC-T 381-82). Mr. Gore also claimed that CCR lawyers "altered" his records. (PC-T 464). Gore explained his adamant refusal to allow his counsel access to records necessary to his defense (T 383-84) by stating to the court: "I don't want them to have any records they're going to use against me which is what I fear Mr. Hammer is go to do if he follows suit." (PC-T 385). Mr. Gore quite clearly believed, as he frequently expressed throughout the proceedings, that his own counsel was conspiring against him.

On November 18, 2004, the trial court ordered attorney Tassone to review the boxes in his possession to determine whether or not they contained relevant materials, create an index for the court and determine whether Mr. Gore objected to those materials being provided to his post conviction counsel.

On November 24, 2004, attorney Tassone filed a Motion for Rehearing regarding the motion to compel along with an affidavit of Marshall Gore which, with familiar irrationality, alleged "threats" from his counsel, "conflicts of interest" with counsel and fears that his post conviction counsel would use the records "against" him. (*See* PC-R 974; 979-80).

On December 29, 2004, the trial court addressed Attorney Tassones Motion for

Rehearing regarding the Motion to Compel.⁶ The trial court ordered attorney Tassone to prepare and file an inventory of the files in his possession by January 20, 2005, and to file a privilege log regarding the files by January 28, 2005. As a result of the special circumstances being encountered with these records, the trial court also determined that good cause existed to continue the evidentiary hearing previously scheduled for January 24, 2005.

At the conclusion of the hearing on the motion to compel, Gore's post conviction counsel filed an amended witness list. During a discussion regarding the sufficiency of the witness list, the Mr. Gore indicated that he did not want his family members contacted in any way, nor called as witnesses at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Gore's irrational and delusional justification was that: "My family has been harassed. My family has been imprisoned. My family is going through hell because of this mess. They will not even testify for me as a result of what was done to my little sister by the State Attorney in Columbia County and the Police Department in Columbia County." (PC-T 467). Based upon Mr. Gores assertion, the trial court struck the names of all the defendant's family members as witnesses.

On January 6, 2005, the trial court entered its written order requiring Frank

⁶On November 30, 2004, the trial court addressed attorney Tassone-s Motion for Rehearing regarding the Motion to Compel but deferred ruling on his motion. At this time, post conviction counsel filed a motion requesting additional time in which to file an amended witness list. On December 8, 2004, the court granted the request and ordered the counsel to file an amended witness list by December 29, 2004.

Tassone to provide an inventory of records in his possession before January 20, 2005, and to file a privilege log before January 28, 2005. On January 12, 2005, Tassone filed a Motion for Extension of Time until February 22, 2005, due to the volume of material in the boxes under review. He also requested until at least March 22, 2005, in which to file the privilege logs with the trial court. On February 14, 2005, Tassone filed a "Sealed Index and Request for Hearing on Disclosure of the Index". On February 17, 2005, Tassone filed a Motion for Clarification of the trial court=s order regarding the Motion to Compel.

On March 3, 2005, a hearing was held during which the trial court determined that the Defendant Gore – an obviously irrational and delusional thinker whom at least one expert had declared to be incompetent to proceed -- should review the materials in the possession of Tassone and determine which documents he wanted released to post conviction counsel.

On March 21, 2005, Tassone filed a "Status of Inventory and Privilege Log; the Defendants Sealed Amended Inventory List; and the Defendants Objections to Disclosure of the Sealed Inventory List". At a hearing held April 13, 2005, the trial court ordered Mr. Tassone to retrieve the amended Inventory List upon which Mr. Gore had marked which materials he wanted released to post conviction counsel and to mail that list to counsel by April 15, 2005. The trial court then gave post conviction counsel only 30 days to review any and all documents that the Defendant authorized to be released and

set a hearing for May 16, 2005, as the deadline to file a Motion to Supplement.

Among other things, the sealed inventory was never revealed to post conviction counsel. The court stated "No, I'm going to leave the sealed inventory in the record. That way, some day some appellate court might need to see what you reviewed with or what Mr. Tassone prepared, what you were working with, and then compare that to the amended inventory that's going to be filed." The court's ruling denied post conviction counsel the rudimentary knowledge necessary to mount a challenge to the basis upon which documents were withheld. (PC-R 510-511, PC-T 500).

On May 16, 2005, a hearing was held before the trial court regarding the status of the review of the materials that the undersigned counsel received from attorney Tassone. Counsel indicated that the volume of materials and Tasone only allowing him access to one box at a time, had allowed him to review only 10 of the 59 boxes that the Defendant authorized to be released. (PC-T 523). Counsel therefore requested additional time in which to complete his review of the materials, conduct his investigation into those previously unavailable materials, and prepare an appropriate supplement to the Amended 3.851 Motion for Post Conviction Relief. Despite these highly unusual circumstances and without regard to the reed for a full investigation, the trial court denied any further extensions of time to investigate the case, and any further requests for amendments to the 3.851 motion.(PC-T 540). On May 27, 2005, the trial court entered an order setting the evidentiary hearing for August 19, 2005.

On August 4, 2005, a status conference was held to clarify which family member witnesses Mr. Gore would, against counsel's advice, refuse to present at the upcoming evidentiary hearing.⁷ Prior to addressing that issue, the Defendant advised Judge Miller, the trial judge, that he had filed a pro se motion to disqualify him. Upon review of the court file, no such motion was found. The court reset the matter for August 8, 2005, and required the Defendant to submit a copy of his motion.

On August 8, 2005, the trial court denied the Defendants Motion to Disqualify Judge Miller as legally insufficient. (PC-T 664). The court also denied the Defendants pro se "Motion for Reconsideration and Request for Leave to Amend and/or to Renew Motions for Substitution of Counsel" which had been previously filed by the Defendant on October 22, 2004.

After a short tirade by the defendant that post conviction counsel had "been representing the state of Florida and this is absolutely preposterous," the trial court then attempted to clarify which witnesses the Defendant did not want presented at the evidentiary hearing. Obviously agitated, Mr. Gore responded: "I have an objection to

⁷On July 28, 2005, a hearing was held at which post conviction counsel filed an amended witness list with proffers of testimony. The trial court set a status conference for August 4, 2005, to clarify which family members Mr. Gore did not wish called and ordered post conviction counsel to provide a more detailed proffer of each witness to the State *at least 48 hours prior to the scheduled deposition of the witness*. The trial court's final order denying post conviction relief on September 1, 2005, states that defendant's witness list was "wholly insufficient." Since no depositions were ever set or taken, this gratuitous finding in the trial court's final order is entirely inconsistent with the condition the court itself set for the witness list on August 4, 2005.

each and every circumstantial witness named on that list until he shows me or tells me

what is coming from these witnesses. He has not done so and as I said he's

representing the State here not me." (PC-T 669).

Then the following exchange took place:

THE COURT: So, you don't want any witnesses called on your behalf?

MR. GORE: Actually, sir, I am not participating in these hearings and that is the bottom line.

THE COURT: Well, that kind of makes it easy.

(PC-T 670).

When asked if he had heard the State's position that this refusal to present

witnesses constituted a failure of proof and waiver, Mr. Gore responded:

Your honor, respectfully, I have to refuse to participate in these proceedings in order to preserve my right – I am terrified of you. I think you are not going to give me a fair consideration of the... my claims. I know I'm not going to get a fair counsel. I know I am not going to get my claims presented in this court. I know for a fact -- because you have not failed to deny it – I know for a fact now that you have actually operated as a State Attorney or in concert with or at least as a supervisor of, or whatever, in regards to these prosecutions against me in some capacity. You have failed to deny that. There's no way that I can proceed any further in these proceedings and no way that I will participate in these proceedings. It is absolutely ridiculous what is going on here. There is no way that Mr. Hammer can represent me. I have demonstrated a fraudulent billing scheme that he is involved in that he has done with Tassone in order to prevent my claims from being carried out and my consideration has not been reconsidered.

THE COURT: The question is now do you want Mr. Hammer to proceed as best he can or do you want Mr. Hammer to cease and desist and withdraw his participation along with yourself for this post-conviction motion?

MR. GORE: *I want him to cease and desist and I'd request substitute counsel because of a conflict of interest.* There is a conflict of interest where he cannot and will not present crossover information.

(PC-T 670-1).

When the trial court then suggested Mr. Gore had "made his decision known" thereby creating a "voluntary withdrawal of his post-conviction motion," post conviction counsel objected and offered to proceed with the evidentiary hearing. (PC-T 674). Mr. Gore then responded: "*Can I remove right now – I'm not going to waive the proceedings but I'm going to waive Counsel" and added "I am not going to accept State imposed collateral counsel trying to kill me.*" (PC-T 674). After the state suggested a Faretta⁸ inquiry regarding pro se representation, Gore continued to express his deep and highly irrational paranoia:

MR. GORE: He is following his own avarice interest of being paid rather than presenting my best interests and representing my interests. This is ridiculous. This is a farce and I need to appeal that and I am not able to appeal that if I have Counsel so - "

THE COURT: Are you requesting to be your own counsel?

MR. GORE: No, What I'm requesting is for Steven Hammer to be taken off of my case so he cannot obstruct the due administration of justice any further and stop me of this Court's recusal.

⁸Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1974).

The trial judge, obviously at the limits of his patience, then stated:

Well, you don't want to represent yourself, you don't want Mr. Hammer to present you. You don't want to provide any help in terms of getting the witnesses ready. You have specifically said you don't want to go forward with a hearing. So, at this point, I'm prepared to end these proceedings and just deny the motion for lack of witnesses, lack of desire to go forward, for impeding the State and its ability to discover what we could have gone forward on and I think we are done. I don't know if we are missing something.

(PC-T 678).

In a statement that expresses petulance but neither agreement with dismissal nor other waiver, Mr. Gore simply responded: "*Go ahead and exterminate me or whatever*

it is that you do." Id.

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