IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1848

MARSHALL LEE GORE,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

⁹ A trial court's decision to grant or deny a continuance is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Gorby v. State*, 630 So. 2d 544, 546 (Fla. 1993).

So. 2d 932, 942-43 (Fla. 2002); Cook v. State, 792 So. 2d 1197, 1204 (Fla. 2001); Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 658 (Fla. 2000). As Defendant here lacked diligence in seeking the records, he waived any claim about the lack of them. The rejection of the claim should be affirmed.

In an attempt to avoid the fact that he never sought public in this matter, Defendant asserts his first post records conviction counsel erroneously failed to provide them to new However, the record counsel after his withdraw. reflects Defendant's first post conviction counsel in this matter was already representing Defendant in connection with his other capital case at the time he was appointed in this matter. (PCR2-SR. 40) When the first post conviction attorney was permitted to withdraw, he was only ordered to send Defendant's present counsel the materials he obtained in litigating this case. (PCR1. 15) In seeking an extension of time to file his motion for post conviction relief, counsel admitted that he had received the first attorney's records from this case and the records sent to the repository in this case. (PCR1. 17) The records in Tassone's possession were mainly those materials gathered as a result of the public records litigation in that case. (PCT2. 490-91) It appears that the remainder of the materials were those records that counsel in the other case had

obtained through waivers of confidentiality that Defendant had executed in the other case but refused to execute here. (PCT2. 385, 404) Thus, the record shows that the records were not misdirected but were instead properly in the possession of the attorney handling the case in which they were received. Defendant's claim to the contrary should be rejected.

Moreover, even if the records did belong to this case, Defendant would still have shown a lack of diligence in seeking the records. The order requiring Defendant's first counsel to provide the records accumulated in this litigation to new counsel was entered on January 21, 2002. (PCR1. 15) No complaint about the lack of records was made until October 25, 2004. (PCR2. 902-05) By that time, Defendant had already filed three versions of his motion for post conviction relief, the lower court had already permitted an amendment to one of the claims in the third version, a Huff hearing had already been held and the matter was pending an evidentiary hearing on one claim. Again, this Court has held that a lack of diligence in seeking records waives the right to the records. Mungin, 932 So. 2d at 994-95; Pace, 854 So. 2d at 180; Vining, 827 So. 2d at 218-19; Reaves, 826 So. 2d at 942-43; Cook, 792 So. 2d at 1204; Thompson, 759 So. 2d at 658. Since Defendant lacked any diligence in not complaining about the lack of records from his first attorney

for more than two and a half years, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in not ordering the records turned over. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, the party who prevented Defendant's attorney from accessing these files was Defendant himself. It was Defendant who objected to having his counsel share the documents. (PCT2. 380-86) In fact, Tassone stated that his only object to providing the documents to Defendant's counsel in this matter was that Defendant objected. (PCT2. 382-83) This Court has recognized that a defendant cannot create an issue, particularly through his own obstreperous conduct, and then complain about the issue on appeal. Wike v. State, 698 So. 2d 817, 819-20 (Fla. 1997); see also Knight v. State, 932 So. 2d 387, 394 (Fla. 2005); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1347 (Fla. 1997); Thompson v. State, 648 So. 2d 692, 695 (Fla. 1994). Since any issue about accessing the files was created by Defendant's own conduct in refusing to obstreperous allow access to the material, the lower court should be affirmed.

Further, while Defendant appears to suggest that the lower court erred in viewing the files as Defendant's property, which he was entitled to control, the law is to the contrary. It is well settled in Florida that files prepared for an indigent defendant to litigate a criminal case are the property of the

client; not the attorney. Long v. Dillinger, 701 So. 2d 1168, 1169 (Fla. 1997); Harris v. Webb, 711 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); McCaskill v. Dees, 698 So. 2d 628 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); Sheffey, 647 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); Pearce v. Eichelberger v. Brueckheimer, 613 So. 2d 1372, 1373 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); Thompson v. Unterberger, 577 So. 2d 684, 685-86 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Dubose v. Shelnutt, 566 So. 2d 921 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Moreover, Florida law is clear that defendants have a right to decide how their cases should be litigated. Hamblen v. State, 527 So. 2d 800, 804 (Fla. 1988); see also Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 189-90 (Fla. 2005); Grim v. State, 841 So. 2d 455, 461 (Fla. 2003); Mora v. State, 814 So. 2d 322, 331-33 (Fla. 2002). This Court has recognized that the defendant's right to control the course of the litigation applies even when the defendant is represented by counsel. Boyd, 910 So. 2d at 189-90; see also Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1993). To the extent that Defendant is suggesting that he should not have been allowed to make this decision because he was not competent, the lower court properly found to the contrary, as argued more fully in response to Issue VI. Thus, the law shows that the lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to compel the disclosure of the information in Tassone's possession over Defendant's personal objection. It should be affirmed.

To the extent that Defendant is suggesting that the lower court abused its discretion in refusing to grant additional time to review the records that Defendant eventually allowed counsel to see and to amend the motion for post conviction relief,¹⁰ Defendant is again entitled to no relief. The lower court did not abuse its discretion.

In Scott v. State, 717 So. 2d 908, 912 (Fla. 1998), this Court held that a trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion to continue an evidentiary hearing when evidence was unavailable because the defendant had been dilatory in seeking the evidence. Moreover, this Court has stated that motions for post conviction relief should be fully plead when filed. Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 212-13 (Fla. 2002). As such, this Court has held that where a defendant does not make a facially sufficient claim and does not even proffer facts to make the claim facially sufficient until after a Huff hearing has been held and a claim summarily denied, the defendant must meet the standard for filing a successive motion to have the added facts considered. Id. Moreover, in Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 205-06 (Fla. 2002), this Court held that a lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to accept an amended

 $^{^{10}}$ Denials of motions for leave to amend after reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Moore v. State*, 820 So. 2d 199, 205-06 (Fla. 2002); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(4).

motion, where the amendment was based on information that should have been available earlier, particularly where leave to amend had already been granted.

Here, by the time that the lower court denied the request for additional time, Defendant's convictions and sentences had already been final for almost four years. By that time, Defendant had already filed three versions of his motion for post conviction relief, he had already been permitted to amend a claim in the last version and a Huff hearing had already been held. Even at that point, the lower court did not determine that no further extensions would be granted for an additional seven months. Moreover, it only did so once it found that Defendant intentionally delayed the proceedings through had his obstreperous conduct with regarding to access to the files. (PCR2. 1003-13) Moreover, even when he moved for rehearing after the lower court had found that Defendant had waived the claim upon which an evidentiary hearing had been granted, counsel was still not able to identify any claims that needed to be amended or showed that any failure to have plead the claims fully at the time they were filed provided good cause for leave to amend. (PCR2. 1056-65) This was true despite the fact that Defendant had given his counsel access to some files more than four months earlier. Under these circumstances, the lower court did not

abuse its discretion in refusing to grant any further extensions of time or leave to amend under *Scott*, *Vining* and *Moore*. It should be affirmed.

III. THE REJECTION OF THE CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT MITIGATION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present mitigation at the penalty phase. Defendant appears to claim that the lower court should not have found that Defendant waived his right to claim ineffective assistance of counsel by discharging counsel and proceeding *pro se* during the penalty phase because Defendant's decision to proceed *pro se* was allegedly not voluntary. However, the lower court properly denied relief and should be affirmed.

With regard to the claim that the lower court erred in finding that Defendant had waived any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase before the jury, Defendant is entitled to no relief. Defendant represented himself at the penalty phase. (T2. 2760-69) As the United States Supreme Court stated in *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 834 n.46 (1975), "a defendant who elects to represent himself cannot thereafter complain that the quality of his own defense amounted to a denial of 'effective assistance of counsel.'" Moreover,

this Court has recognized that a defendant who chose to represent himself at the penalty phase cannot thereafter complain that mitigation was not presented because counsel had not investigated it. See Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 328-29 (Fla. 1995); see also Allen v. State, 854 So. 2d 1255, 1257 n.3 & 1258 n.4 (Fla. 2003). Thus, the lower court properly found that Defendant had waived any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and present mitigation at the penalty phase before the jury.

In an attempt to avoid this holding, Defendant contends that his decision to represent himself at the penalty phase was not valid because Defendant was forced to choose between ineffective counsel and representing himself. However, this contention provides no basis for relief as it is not properly before this Court and is procedurally barred.

Issues raised for the first time on appeal are not properly before the Court and are considered waived and procedurally barred. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003); *Doyle v. State*, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). Here, Defendant did not claim that the lower court should ignore the fact that he represented himself at the penalty phase because the decision to do so was involuntary in the lower court. Instead, he simply ignored the fact that he had represented himself in pleading

this claim. (PCR2. 363-69) At the *Huff* hearing, Defendant merely asserted that counsel could still be considered ineffective because he should have investigated the mitigation before he was discharged. (PCT2. 353-54) Thus, this argument was not presented to the lower court and is not properly before this Court.

Even if Defendant had presented the issue below, he would still be entitled to no relief. On direct appeal, Defendant claimed that the trial court had erred in allowing him to represent himself because Defendant only did so because he was confronted with a choice between self representation and ineffective assistance of counsel. Initial Brief of Appellant, FSC Case No. SC96127, at 36-41. This Court rejected this claim. Gore v. State, 784 So. 2d 418, 433-34, 436-37(Fla. 2001). Since this issue was actually raised and rejected on direct appeal, Defendant's attempt to relitiqate this issue here is procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995). Because the claim that the decision to proceed pro se at the penalty phase was involuntary is procedurally barred, it provides no basis to avoid the fact that Defendant waived any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase by doing so. The rejection of this claim should be affirmed.

To the extent that Defendant is claiming that the lower court erred in finding that Defendant waived his claim about the

Spencer hearing, Defendant is entitled to no relief. For the reasons asserted in response to Issue I, the lower court properly found that Defendant waived the claim by refusing to present evidence in support of the claim. Ferrell v. State, 918 So. 2d 163, 173-74 (Fla. 2005); Owen v. Crosby, 773 So. 2d 510, 515 (Fla. 2000). Thus, the rejection of this claim should be affirmed.

Even if the lower court had improperly found that Defendant waived the claim, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. While Defendant asserted that his counsel did not investigate mitigation and that Lee Norton, Dr. Barry Crown and Defendant's family members were available to present this mitigation, the record reflects that counsel did, in fact, investigate mitigation. At a hearing between the guilt and penalty phases, counsel stated that he was removing Defendant's sisters from the witness list because he had spoke to them and they had no beneficial information. (T2. 2722-23) Counsel also stated that he had spoken to Dr. Mhatre and Lee Norton and that they also had nothing mitigating to say about Defendant. (T2. 2732-33) Counsel attempted to have Defendant evaluated by Dr. Haber for the purposes of presenting mitigation but Defendant refused to meet with her on two occasions. (T. 2708-25) Counsel then filed a memo regarding his unsuccessful attempts to have

other experts who had previously evaluated Defendant present mitigation in this matter. (PCR2. 817) In the memo, counsel stated that he had spoken to Lee Norton and Dr. Crown and that both had refused to testify on Defendant's behalf. Id. The memo reflected that Dr. Norton had interviewed Defendant, his family and his friends but found nothing mitigating. (PCR2. 817) It also showed that Dr. Crown had conducted neuropsychological testing but found nothing useful since the results were invalid. Id. Based on this record evidence, this Court rejected Defendant's direct appeal claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present mitigation. Gore, 784 So. 2d at 438. Since Defendant's claim only proffer as mitigation that which counsel had actually investigated prior to trial, the claim was refuted by the record. It was properly denied.

IV. THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF DEFENDANT'S INSUFFICIENTLY PLEAD, PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS CLAIMS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in denying several of his claims summarily because they were insufficiently pled or without merit as a matter of law. However, the summary denial of claims was proper and should be affirmed.

Defendant first appears to claim that the lower court's order denying the claims that were summarily denied was improper

because it did not explain the lower court's rationale for denying the claims or attach records and was based on findings that claims were insufficiently pled, procedurally barred or insufficient as a matter of law. However, in Anderson v. State, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993), this Court stated that a trial court's order summarily denying a claim would be deemed proper if the trial court either attached portions of the record or explained its rationale for denying a claim. Based on this holding, this Court had held that a summary denial can be upheld even where a trial court did not attach portions of the record if the lower court has "clearly spelled out" the reason for the denial in its order. Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, this Court has affirmed the summary denial of claims presented in a motion filed after the amendment to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, when the claims presented were procedurally barred or insufficiently plead even over the defendant's claim that an evidentiary hearing was necessary. Bryant v. State, 901 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 2005). Here, the lower court's order explained summarily denying claims because they were that it was insufficiently plead, procedurally barred and without merit as a matter of law. (PCR2. 908-09) Since these were the lower court's rationale and they are proper reasons to summary deny claims, the lower court's order is not improper. This is particularly

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